THEODORE RODGERS, Appellant,

v.

Appeal No. SC11-2259 L.CT. 01-CR-2386

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee ____/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANDREA M. NORGARD For the Firm Norgard and Norgard P.O. Box 811 Bartow, FL 33831 (863)533-8556 Fax (863)533-1334 Norgardlaw@verizon.net Fla. Bar No. 0661066

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of the Appellant's Motion to Vacate the Judgment and Sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. The Appellant, Theodore Rodgers, will be referred to by name. The prosecuting authority, the State of Florida, will be referred to as the State.

The record on appeal consists of nine volumes. Volumes I-V contain the documents from the clerk's office and will be referenced in the briefs of the Appellant by the volume number, "R", and the appropriate page number. Volumes VI-IX contain the transcripts of the proceedings and will be referenced in the briefs of the Appellant by the volume number, "T", and the appropriate page number.

Volume IX [9] of the evidentiary hearing transcripts is not numbered sequentially with the other volumes from the evidentiary hearing. The page numbers for Vol. IX used in the briefs will be the page number contained on the top right corner of each page.

The appellate record received by appellate counsel does not contain the four Defense Exhibits entered into evidence at the evidentiary hearing. Defense Exhibit 4, the report of Dr. Michael Gamache, has been attached to

this brief as Appendix A for the Court's ease and in the event that the exhibits were not transmitted to this Court by the Ninth Judicial Circuit Clerk's Office.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 21, 2001, the grand jury for the Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Orange County, Florida, issued an indictment against the Appellant, Theodore Rodgers, for the offense of first-degree murder. [I,RA] The jury recommended death by a vote of 8-4.[V,R773] Mr. Rodgers was convicted as charged and sentenced to death on June 16, 2004.[I,R166;V,T773]

Mr. Rodgers appealed to the Florida Supreme Court, which affirmed the judgment and sentence in <u>Rodgers v.</u> <u>State</u>, 948 So.2d 655 (Fla. 2006), with the mandate issuing on February 9, 2007. [I,R32] The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on October 7, 2007. <u>Rodgers</u> <u>v. Florida</u>, 552 U.S. 833, 128 S.Ct. 59,169 L.Ed.2d 50(2007).

CCRC filed a notice of appearance on March 9, 2007, for representation in collateral proceeding. [I,R7-8] CCRC filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence on September 18, 2008.[I,R165-200; II,R201-212] On October 31, 2008, CCRC filed a motion to withdraw as

counsel.[II,R222-223] The State filed a response to the CCRC motion on November 4, 2008.[II,R224-294] CCRC's motion to withdraw as counsel was granted on November 17, 2008.[II,R295-296]

An Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence was filed on June 16, 2009. [II,R347-400;III,R401-429]. The State's Response to the Amended Motion was filed on July 30, 2009. [III,R495-502]

The evidentiary hearing was bifurcated - three days of hearings were conducted on June 14, 15, and 16, 2010 [V,VI,VII,VIII], and two days of hearings were conducted on December 20-21, 2010.[IX] The postconviction court entered an order denying relief on October 18, 2011.[V,R773-807]

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on November 16, 2011.[V,R808-843]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A summary of testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing follows:

Gerod Hooper relocated to Florida in 1989 after practicing civil law in New York and New Jersey. [VI,T13] Mr. Hooper worked in several public defender offices in Florida prior to coming to the Ninth Circuit. [VI,T13-15] During that period of time he had experience with six or

seven capital cases.[VI,T15-16] He served as lead counsel in two penalty phases.[VI,T19] Mr. Hooper came to the Ninth Circuit on May 5, 2003, and began representing Mr. Rodgers, whose trial occurred in October 2003, about a month before the trial of the penalty phase.[VI,T25;30] He had to be involved in death cases because he was the only lawyer in the office other than the elected public defender who was death qualified.[VI,T27] Mr. Hooper worked on this case with George Couture and a paralegal, Jeff Lee.[VI,T33]

George Couture testified that he worked at the Public Defender's office and began representing Mr. Rodgers. [VII,T189] This case was the first case that he worked on that went to verdict. [VII,T189] Mr. Couture prepared most of the motions and worked on the penalty phase. [VII,T195] Mr. Couture was also involved in the process of obtaining records, which included identifying records, directing the paralegal and investigator, and ensuring that records were ultimately obtained. [VII,T198-199]

Junior Barrett was hired as an attorney by the Public Defender's office in 1991.[VII,T300] Prior to 2003 he had worked on some capital cases.[VII,T302]

Around the time that the current elected Public Defender took office, around 2002, most of the capital

lawyers left, leaving no one in the office who was death qualified. [VII,T303;307] Mr. Rodgers' case came to the office just about this time.[VII,T303] Mr. Barrett became lead counsel for the guilt phase of Mr. Rodgers' case until Mr. Hooper joined the office.[VII,T306] Mr. Hooper was the one who was death qualified at the time.[VII,T307]

Rowana Williams testified that she had worked for the public defender's office in the 1990's, left, and then returned from 2000-2003.[VII,T337] In the 1990's she handled capital sexual battery cases, but did not handle capital cases.[VII,T338] She did no capital cases while in private practice.[VII,T338] When she returned in 2000, she eventually ended up in the capital division.[VII,T339] According to Ms. Williams, people were switched around so much it was "ridiculous and "crazy."[VII,T340]

Ms. Williams could not recall exactly when she became involved in Mr. Rodgers' case.[VII,T339] Her role was to assist in penalty phase. Couture was the "motions man," Hooper was lead penalty phase counsel assisted by Couture, and Barrett was lead guilt phase counsel.[VII,T339-40]

1. Ownership of the gun

Mr. Hooper testified that he had no role in identifying evidence that would have established that the

gun was owned by the victim's ex-husband, Willie Odum.[VI,T34] Accordingly, he had no role in determining whether to call witnesses to establish that Odum owned the gun.[VI,T34]

Couture believed that establishing that the gun used in the homicide was owned by Willie Odum was important to the case because it was relevant to the question of premeditation. [VII,T199] Ownership of the gun was relevant to penalty phase as well because it went to Mr. Rodger's mental state, demonstrating this was a crime committed under emotional duress, as opposed to premeditation. [VII,T199]

Couture recalled some discussion about calling Willie Odum as a witness not only to establish ownership of the gun but also to support the defense theory that Odum was involved with the victim, had recent sexual relations with her, and had been involved with the victim during her marriage to Mr. Rodgers.[VII,T200] Odum could also be used to humanize Mr. Rodgers for penalty phase.[VII,201] Couture could not remember why Odum was not called but thought there may have been some difficulty locating him. [VII,T200]

Barrett knew that Willie Odum was the ex-husband of

б

the victim and believed that it was important to prove who actually owned the gun, especially to establish that the victim could have had access to the gun and pulled it on Mr. Rodgers. [VII,T312] Odum admitted in deposition that the gun was his and that the registration for the weapon would establish his ownership.[VII,T313]

Barrett intended to call Odum as a witness and subpoenaed him for trial. [VII,T314] However, at a meeting just a few days before trial, it was learned that Odum could not be located.[VII,T314] The records that the defense had obtained regarding the gun were objected to at trial and not introduced.[VII,T315] Barrett knew the legal procedure required to authenticate a business record, but that was not done in this case.[VII,T316]

Ms. Williams knew that the gun used to kill the victim belonged to Willie Odum.[VII,T345] She recalled that immediately before trial it appeared that he had been served, but that turned out to be incorrect; Odum had not been served. [VII,T346] She did not recall introducing any establishing that documents the qun belonged to Odum.[VII,T346] Ms. Williams believed that establishing the ownership of the gun diminished premeditation because the victim had been calling Mr. Rodgers all day, had told

him to come to the daycare, and had the gun when he got there; Mr. Rodgers did not bring a gun with him.[VII,T347] Defense Exhibit 1, entered into evidence, established that the gun was owned by Willie Odum.[IX,T77-78]

2. Use of a child witness expert

Dr. Sherry Bourg Carter is a psychologist specializing in forensic psychology. [VIII,T356] Her primary area of focus deals with child witnesses, a subspecialty of forensic psychology. Dr. Carter has focused on child witnesses issues for 20 years and has testified in the trial courts of Florida over 100 times on issues related to child witnesses. [VIII,T356, 358] She has worked for both the prosecution and defense. [VIII,T358-9] She often works for the prosecution to make sure that a child witness is competent or capable of testifying and to review interviews of child witnesses to determine if those interviews were done properly. [VIII,T359-60] Dr. Carter's resume was entered into evidence as Defense Exhibit 3.[IX,T78]

A child witness who does not understand the importance of telling the truth may not understand the gravity of the situation, the consequences of making a mistake, or of saying something that someone else said but they did not actually see or hear. [VIII,T448-9] The child witnesses in

the instant case gave different information at different times. [VIII,T449]

Dr. Carter was asked to review the materials related to the child witnesses in this case. [VIII,T360] She reviewed the police reports, the audio statements of the child witnesses and the transcripts, the depositions of the child witnesses, and the direct and cross-examination from the trial. [VIII,T361] She also reviewed the trial testimony of Detective Chiota, who had conducted the pretrial interviews of the children. [VIII,T361]

Dr. Carter testified that there is an accepted set of standards for interviewing child witnesses and that certain types of questions should be asked in order to adequately assess whether the child understands certain concepts. The majority of experts agree that these standards should be used to determine the competency of child witnesses. [VIII,T365;447] Dr. Carter evaluates and testifies about whether those professional standards have been met. [VIII,T447] In analyzing whether a child interview has been conducted properly, it is first determined what the child allegedly saw. An assessment is then conducted to determine what, if anything, might have influenced the child's statement or affected the child's memory.

[VIII,T365] The actual interview is then reviewed to determine if the procedures used were in accord with the protocol.[VIII,T365]

In this case, Dr. Carter noted that three children were involved - Marquis, TiJuan, and Raveen.[VIII,T368-9] Although all three children were asked during the police interview about truth and lies, merely asking this question alone is not sufficient to determine the competency of children because it does establish whether the children knew the meaning of taking an oath, knew that that there are consequences for telling a lie in court, or knew what those consequences might be.[VIII,T368-69] These issues addressed with were not any of the three children.[VIII,T370] The police interviewer did not explore with any of the three children the meaning of the obligation to tell the truth, which is a moral obligation in Florida under case law.[VIII,T370]

For example, after Marquis was asked if he knew the difference between the truth and a lie, he gave no response to most of the questions without significant prompting. [VIII,T372-374] Dr. Carter opined that the exchange with Marquis did not establish that he understood the concept of truth or the concept of a lie.[VIII,T374]

Likewise, Dr. Carter found no evidence in the police interview of TiJuan that he was asked any questions about the consequences of not telling the truth. [VIII,T376] TiJuan was not asked to differentiate between truth and a lie.[VIII,T376] It was not determined that TiJuan understood what a "promise" is.[VIII,T376]

Similarly, although Raveen was asked to "promise" to tell the truth, but there was nothing to indicate that she understood the concept of promise, which with young children is not a given. [VIII,T376] She was asked no questions about the consequences of not telling the truth.[VIII,T377]

Dr. Carter also listened to and reviewed the transcripts of each child's police interview.[VIII,T377] She identified specific problems with the way each child was questioned and problems that occurred with all of the children.[VIII,T377]

According to Dr. Carter, all interviews should be taped, and no conversation with the child should occur outside of the recording. [VIII,T390] However, contrary to that accepted protocol, the interview with Marquis indicates that the officer talked with him prior to the recording. [VIII,T390]

Dr. Carter also said that interviews in the home are discouraged due to the possibility of others being present, which is a "don't," because third parties can communicate with the child through body language, which is not readily apparent on a recording. [VIII,T378-79, 391] This protocol was not followed here. Not only were the children interviewed in the home [VIII,T391], but laughter is in the background audible of the interview of Marquis[VIII,T391], and all of the children were interviewed in the presence of Yolanda Gay, who is close presumably the children's mother or relative.[VIII,T377] Other voices are also audible in the taped interviews.[VIII,T378;415] Since Ms. Gay is an interested party, there is no way to determine what influence she may have had on the children's statements.[VIII,T379]

It is also inappropriate for a parent to participate in an interview of a child and provide answers to the child or direct the child how to answer a question.[VIII,T380]

Also, although it is preferable to have only one police officer conduct the interview since children are more easily influenced by authority figures than adults [VIII,T378-79], and two people asking questions and

interjecting can be intimidating to a child[VIII,T379], the children here were interviewed by two detectives. [VIII, T377] Failure to follow these procedures and protocols creates a large enough chance for error that it should not be done if it can be helped. [VIII,T379]

Additionally, children must be told what the rules of the interview are prior to questioning, because they are more easily influenced by authority figures. [VIII,T385] They should be given permission to say that they don't understand or don't remember something. When this is done, children is more likely to follow the rules since they are used to having rules both at home and at school. [VIII,T385] If a child is not made aware of these rules, the child will answer questions that the child does not know the answer to just to please the authority figure. [VIII,T385]

It is also inappropriate for the adult interviewer to urge a child to answer a question. [VIII,T386] A question can be rephrased, but if a child is urged to give an answer, the child is more likely to give just any answer because of the urging rather than giving an accurate answer.[VIII,T386] Marquis was often urged to give an answer, to say "yes" or "no."[VIII,T386]

It is also inappropriate for a child to be told to give an answer. [VIII,T387] All three children were told to give an answer during the police interview. [VIII,T387] For instance, during Marquis's interview, he was told to give an answer by both his mother and the police.[VIII,T391-2]

Furthermore, an interviewer should not use leading questions with a child.[VIII,T389] Neither should "tag" questions, which give the child information about the answer, be used.[VIII,T389] Children are more susceptible to giving a desired answer, rather than an accurate answer, than adults are. [VIII,T390] The more frequently a child goes along with the lead, the greater the likelihood that information provided is the inaccurate is or misinformation.[VIII,T394] Leading questions and taq questions were used in the interview of Marquis.[VIII,T392-3;395;396]

Finally, if it becomes apparent during an interview that a child has received information about the incident from a third party, the interviewer should ascertain what the exposure was, what the child's feelings are about the person who provided the information, and what, if anything else was communicated to the child. [VIII,T406] This is

important because a child's memory is more easily influenced by what he or she has been told, resulting in contamination of the memory. [VIII, T407; 485; 487] These protocols and procedures were not followed here. Not only did all the children indicate that they had talked with someone else or someone named Keisha prior to the police interview, there are indications that the police talked to the children prior to the taped interview. [VIII,T406;484-5]

Dr. Carter identified additional issues during the police questioning related to Marquis.[VIII,T371] First, the police officers asked developmentally inappropriate questions.[VIII,T382] When police officer а asks developmentally inappropriate questions of a child, it increases the likelihood that the child will provide unreliable information.[VIII,T382] The developmentally inappropriate questions of Marquis related to questions about how long things happened.[VIII,T382;479] Children Marquis' age cannot understand this concept.[VIII,T383;479]

Another problematic question of Marquis was "why did the defendant kick the victim?" Children that age are egocentric and often cannot understand the perspective of others; they can only consider their own perspective.

[VIII,T383;478] Young children cannot assume the perspective of another to determine what that person was thinking. [VIII,T384;478]

Marquis was also asked improper questions about the passage of time.[VIII,T395] Young children do not grasp the concept of time, so such questions are developmentally inappropriate. [VIII,T395]

Marquis was also asked multiple questions at one time, making it impossible to tell which question he was answering. [VIII,T391;393]

Finally, Marquis was improperly given information about what the other children had said prior to his interview. [VIII,T395] Young children have difficulty identifying the source of information in their memories - a difficulty called source monitoring - which is compounded when they hear something that is not their own memory. [VIII,T396] They have difficulty distinguishing their own memory from the memory of others. [VIII,T406]

Dr. Carter noted that TiJuan's interview was also fraught with impropriety. Contrary to proper procedures, TiJuan's mother was present during his interview, TiJuan was asked improper leading questions, and any incorrect information TiJuan gave was corrected. [VIII,T398-99]

Developmentally, children TiJuan's age (age six) do not understand the concepts of lies and truth, so they should be questioned using scenarios. The questioning of TiJuan regarding truth/lie was developmentally inappropriate. [VIII,T400] TiJuan was not asked if he understood the concept of promise [VIII, T400], and he was questioned using inappropriate leading questions and questions tag [VIII,T401-404], in addition to developmentally inappropriate questions about time and relationships. [VIII,T401-2] Also, someone had improperly talked to TiJuan after the event occurred but before the interview. [VIII,T403-4]

Dr. Carter observed that Raveen was age eight at the time of questioning, so some aspects of her interview were better than the interviews of Marquis and TiJuan. [VIII,T405] However, Raveen's interview also contained leading questions, developmentally inappropriate questions about relationships, and exposure to information from others who had been interviewed prior to her interview. [VIII,T405;408]

According to Dr. Carter, evaluation of a child witness also includes an examination of the inconsistency/consistency of the child's testimony when

compared with other statements made by the child and others. [VIII,T398;490] Some inconsistencies may not be significant, but others may be relevant to competency and credibility. [VIII,T398;490] For example, all the children here claimed that they were interviewed together, yet Detective Chiota testified at trial that he interviewed each child individually. [VIII,T409] Indications in the interviews suggest the children were interviewed together. [VIII,T411-412]

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