IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THEODORE RODGERS, JR.,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC11-2259

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

Mitchell D. Bishop
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 43319
444 Seabreeze Blvd.,5th Floor
Telephone: (386) 238-4990
Fax: (386) 226-0457
Mitchell.Bishop@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

A: T . . T . . .

Q: How old are you . . ?

A: Nine. . . .

Q: Do you go to school?

A: Yes.

Q: Where do you go?

A: Ivy Lane Elementary.

Q: And what grade are you in at Ivy Lane?

A: Third.

 $^{^{27}}$ DAR references the Direct Appeal Record and volume number.

Q: Do you watch lawyers or judges on TV?

A: Yes.

Q: Who is your favorite judge on TV?

A: Judge Mathis.

Q: . . . and the lady that you just saw asked if you would promise to tell the truth, do you remember that?

A: Yes.

Q: Do you know the difference between telling the truth and telling a lie?

A: Yes.

Q: Is it good to tell the truth or to tell a lie?

A: Tell the truth?

Q: What happens if you tell a lie?

A: Huh?

Q: What happens if you tell a lie?

A: Get in trouble.

Q: What happens to the persons in Judge Mathis's courtroom who tell a lie?

A: Get in trouble.

Q: So you are going to promise to tell us the truth about everything today, right?

A: Yes.

(DAR V5, R696-698)

(Direct Examination of M.T.)

THE COURT: Lean forward in the chair. You may proceed.

- Q: Can you tell me your name?
- A: M . . . T . . .
- Q: How old are you?
- A: Eight.
- Q: Do you go to school?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Where do you go to school?
- A: Ivy Lane Elementary.
- Q: What grade are you in at Ivy Lane?
- A: Third. . . .
- Q: Okay, did you ever watch TV with lawyers and judges?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Do you have a favorite judge?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Who is you favorite judge?
- A: Judge Mathis.
- Q: Now, in Judge Mathis's court, if somebody tells a lie, what happens to them?
- A: They go to trial and then they go to jail.
- Q: Do you know the difference between telling the truth and telling a lie?
- A: Yes.

Q: Is it good to tell the truth?

A: Yes.

Q: Is it good to tell a lie?

A: No.

Q: What happens if you tell a lie?

A: I get in trouble.

(DAR V5, R725-727).

bar, the children were examined the case at accordance with the rule in Floyd. The trial court and defense counsel observed the demeanor of the eight, nine, and ten yearold child witnesses in court. The children were taken to task on whether they understood the difference between the truth and a lie and whether they would tell the truth. The children demonstrated an ability to intelligently perceive and recall facts. Rodgers even points out that in determining whether the children could distinguish between the truth and a lie, "most eight²⁸ year-olds can." (*Initial Brief* at 78). Furthermore, despite some inconsistencies in the children's testimony, their version of the events is corroborated by undisputed material evidence. The children testified that the defendant and victim were fighting, Rodgers was "hitting and kicking the victim,"

²⁸ The youngest witness at Rodgers' trial was eight years old.

that he went to the back room, returned and shot the victim several times. Bruising on the victim's body was consistent with her being kicked, she had gunshot wounds that entered from the back of her head and back (completely inconsistent with Rodgers' self-defense claim), and Rodgers left the daycare and admitted to friends that he had killed his wife.

Rodgers contends that trial counsel was deficient for the children to cross examine on every inconsistency in their testimony. However, such a vehement attack on a child witness can be disenchanting to the jury and harmful to the defendant. Id. As this Court in Floyd held, "Indeed, an attorney who aggressively questions a distressed child runs a high risk of alienating jurors, something which a capital defendant should avoid." Id. Furthermore, inconsistencies in a child witness's testimony do not cast doubt on the child's competency to testify. See Lloyd, 524 So. 2d at 400 (holding that the inconsistencies in various statements were nothing more than what one could expect from a child of five or six years of age and were not so egregious as to require the total rejection of the testimony).

Rodgers also incorrectly claims that the children did not express their understanding of the moral obligation to tell the truth. Rodgers misinterpreted the rule in Floyd and appears to

claim that the children are required to literally say "I understand my moral obligation to tell the truth," or words to that effect. Floyd requires no such literal statement. Id. (where a child witness was qualified after she "promised to tell the truth"), citing Baker v. State, 674 So. 2d 199, 200-201 (Fla. 4th Dist. Ct. App. 1996) (finding no abuse of discretion where the trial court qualified a six-year-old child after the child demonstrated that she knew her age, where she went to school, where she went to church, and the colors of clothing; the child established that she possessed a sense to tell the truth; and the child stated that she knew it was wrong to lie). The third prong in Floyd is intended to ensure the trial court examines the child witness's understanding of the difference between the truth and a lie and whether they understand they should tell the truth. The trial court in the case at bar fulfilled both of these requirements. The trial court can accomplish the third Floyd prong in a myriad of ways.

This Court has previously rejected the argument that a "child witness expert" is required to properly evaluate and qualify a child to testify. <u>Butler</u>, 37 Fla. L. Weekly at S516 (July 12, 2012). In <u>Butler</u>, the defendant argued that trial counsel was deficient for failing to employ a "child witness expert" to evaluate whether a six year old child was competent

to testify. In Butler's post-conviction hearing, the trial court pointed out that "[the child's] testimony may have been affected by the bias of the adults around her, but found that these issues went toward the <u>credibility</u> of her testimony, not toward whether she was competent to testify as a matter of law." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis in original). In the case at bar, Dr. Cater testified about the inconsistencies in the children's testimony and the fact that their testimony could have been affected by things they heard from other people rather than things they actually perceived themselves. Similar to <u>Butler</u>, these are issues that affect the children's credibility, not their competency to testify as a matter of law. Just like in <u>Butler</u>, trial counsel for Rodgers cross examined the children, in the presence of the jury, on several inconsistencies in their testimony.

Rodgers' argument that a "child witness expert" was required to properly evaluate and qualify the child witnesses is analogous to the failed argument in <u>Floyd</u> that a separate "competency hearing" was required to voir dire and qualify the child witnesses. It is entirely adequate for the trial court to examine the child witness's competence to testify prior to his or her direct examination. <u>See Glendening v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 212, 216 (Fla. 1988) (child witness questioned on voir dire at the beginning of her videotaped testimony); <u>Bennett v. State</u>,

971 So. 2d 196, 198 (Fla. 1st Dist. Ct. App. 2007) (trial court conducted a competency examination on the morning of the trial). Furthermore, even if the "child witness expert" could have been helpful to defense counsel's preparation, defense counsel is not required to consult and expert just because such an expert exists and may offer some theory in assistance. See Rompilla, 545 U.S. at 382-383; Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 525, (emphasis added).

Finally, Rodgers' argument regarding the credibility of the child witness testimony fails to account for a fundamental principle of American jurisprudence—the trier of fact is the ultimate arbiter οf witness credibility. Perry v. Hampshire, 132 S. Ct. 716, 723 (2012) ("juries are assigned the task of determining the reliability of the evidence presented at trial"), citing Kansas v. Ventris, 556 U.S. 586, 594 ("Our legal system . . . is built on the premise that it is the province of the jury to weigh the credibility of competing witnesses."); see also Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 330 (2006) ("And where the credibility of the prosecution's witnesses or the reliability of its evidence is not conceded, the strength of the prosecution's case cannot be assessed without making the sort of factual findings that have traditionally been reserved for the trier of fact and that the South Carolina courts did not purport to make in this case").

While it is within the trial court's purview to ascertain a child witness's competence to testify in accordance with the factors set out in Floyd, it is within the ambit of the jury as the determinative assessor of the children's credibility to decide whether they believe the children, coupled with the other evidence of guilt, or Rodgers' claim of self defense. That trial counsel decided not to impeach the child witnesses on certain inconsistencies at trial is a tactical or strategic decision that is virtually unchallengeable, Downs, 453 So. at 1108 (ruling that an attorney's strategic choices are "virtually unchallengeable") and entirely reasonable. See Lloyd, 524 So. 2d at 400. The mere existence of inconsistencies in a witness's testimony does not presume that it is tactically wise to highlight them to the jury. Id.

ISSUE III: THE GUN'S OWNERSHIP WOULD HAVE HAD NO IMPACT ON THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL AND RODGERS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM LITIGATING THIS CLAIM UNDER THE GUISE OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Rodgers claims counsel was ineffective for failing to prove the murder weapon belonged to another person. During post-conviction proceedings, the trial court held that "Evidence that the firearm belonged to [Willie B.] Odom would not have changed the outcome of trial." The court went on further to summarize how the evidence contradicted Rodgers'

testimony and theory of the case.

The evidence demonstrated that after discovering his wife half-dressed and her ex-husband leaving the daycare carrying his shirt and shoes, Defendant told his friend James Corbett that he was going to kill his wife. He returned to the daycare later that day and the children testified that Defendant and the victim argued and he began hitting and kicking the According to the children, Defendant went to the back room, returned with a gun, and shot the victim several times. After leaving the daycare, Defendant told friends that he killed his wife because she was having an affair. The bruising on the victim's body was consistent with her being kicked and she had gunshot wounds that entered from the back of her head and back. The victim's injuries were consistent with the children's account the events and inconsistent with Defendant's version that the victim tried to shoot him but was shot in a struggle over the gun." (Trial Tr. Vol. VI, 799-804, 826) (emphasis added).

The evidence is undisputed that Rodgers shot the gun. The purpose for which Rodgers wanted to introduce evidence of the ownership of the gun was squarely at odds with the other evidence in the trial. Whomever the gun belonged to is not relevant.

Furthermore, this claim is improperly styled as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Trial counsel attempted to introduce evidence of the gun ownership and was denied by the trial judge and events out of the control of both the State and defendant. (V9, R312-317). The owner of the gun, Willie B. Odom, was deposed pre-trial, subpoenaed for

trial, but unavailable to testify because he was hospitalized. (V9, R312-317). Trial counsel attempted to enter documents into evidence that indicated Odom was the owner of the gun but could not overcome the hearsay objection and the trial judge kept the documents out. (V9, R312-317). Trial counsel made reasonable, constitutionally effective efforts to introduce the evidence and preserved the issue for appeal. The analysis regarding the admissibility of the documentary evidence should be articulated as a claim of abuse of discretion by the trial judge regarding the admissibility of the documentary evidence of the gun ownership. Rodgers should have, could have, but did not raise that issue on direct appeal and is therefore procedurally barred from doing so now. See Rodgers, 948 So. 2d at 662. The claim cannot be resurrected under the guise of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Furthermore, any claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for not raising the abuse of discretion issue on appeal should have and could have been raised in a state habeas petition contemporaneous with this appeal and Rodgers failed to do so. Fla. R. App. P. 9.142(b)(4)(B). The ineffective assistance of appellate counsel issue is also procedurally barred.

Claims that were or could have been brought on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings.

This Court has consistently held that a claim that could and should have been raised on direct appeal is procedurally barred.

Miller v. State, 926 So. 2d 1243, 1260 (Fla. 2006); Davis v.

State, 928 So. 2d 1089, 1126 (Fla. 2005); Duckett v. State, 918

So. 2d 224 (Fla. 2005); Robinson v. State, 913 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2005).

Additionally, it is inappropriate to use a different argument to re-litigate the same issue. Willacy v. State/McDonough, 967 So. 2d 131, 141 (Fla. 2007); Israel v. State/McNeil, 985 So. 2d 510, 520-521 (Fla. 2008). Α procedurally barred claim cannot be considered under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Freeman v. State/Singletary, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000) (holding that claims that could have been raised on direct appeal cannot be re-litigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel); Rodriguez v. State/Crosby, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1262 (Fla. 2005). Whereas here, trial counsel did all they could do, the ineffective assistance of counsel claim is no more than pretense that has no legal or factual basis.

ISSUE IV: RODGERS KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO "DRESS OUT" DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF TRIAL

Rodgers claims the trial judge erred in dealing with Rodgers' choice of courtroom attire for the penalty phase.

Rodgers intelligently and voluntarily waived his right to appear "dressed out" in civilian clothing. Even if his waiver was inadequate, he suffered no prejudice because the he was no longer presumed innocent during the penalty phase.

While Rodgers claims the waiver of his right to "dress out" was not knowing and voluntary, he cites to no case law which requires a trial judge to conduct a hearing on the voluntariness of every event during a trial. Even still, the trial court in this case conducted a colloquy into Rodgers' state of dress at sentencing. The cases to which Rodgers does cite regarding a defendant's right to be presented to the jury in clothing that is not "jail garb" are distinguishable and non-determinative to the issue at bar.

Rodgers cites Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501 (1976), in support of his claim. While Estelle stands for the rule that a defendant has a right to be presented to a jury "not jailhouse clothing," the United States Supreme Court in Estelle decided the issue based on the defendant's quilt "presumption of innocence" rather than sentencing mitigation. 425 U.S. at 507-508. The Court in Estelle also ruled that it was defense counsel's obligation to object to the jailhouse clothing. Id. The Court then went further in its ruling and pointed out numerous instances where a defendant may appear before the jury in jail clothing whether by preference, lack of prejudice, or strategic decision by counsel. Id. ("when, for example, the accused is being tried for an offense committed in confinement . . . the jury would learn of his incarceration anyway . . . [there is] no prejudice . . . from seeing that which is already known") (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); ("instances frequently arise where a defendant prefers to stand trial before his peers in prison garments. The cases show, for example, that it is not an uncommon defense tactic to produce the defendant in jail clothes in the hope of eliciting jury.") (internal quotation marks from the sympathy citations omitted) (emphasis added). When taken in its entirety, the ruling in Estelle stands for the exact opposite of what Rodgers claims.

Rodgers also cites to <u>Deck v. Missouri</u>, 544 US 622 (2005), in support of his claim. However, <u>Deck</u> is distinguishable and non-determinative of the issue at bar. In <u>Deck</u>, the United States Supreme Court dealt with the issue of a trial court forcing a defendant to wear jail garments and be shackled during the penalty phase of a capital case without articulating any findings that justified the restrains and clothing. 544 U.S. at 634 (emphasis added). The Due Process violation occurs only when the defendant was forced to wear the garments and shackles and

thus the burden does not shift to the State to show the error was harmless absent such an involuntary requirement by the trial court. <u>Id.</u> When the defendant voluntarily appears before the jury in jailhouse clothing, there is no error. Rodgers voluntarily appeared in jail garments.

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